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Paul and Daria Mattingly were to purchase no. 31 Marlborough Buildings in May 2022 from the then owners Mario and Jeanette Cicirello, 

whose family had owned it since 1959. During their residency it had been split into a number of apartments that they let to tenants. Paul and 

Daria then set themselves the task of restoring the building to how it would have originally looked in Georgian times. With Paul`s father`s 

help they researched the history of the building through books and documents in the record office as far as they could. They were fortunate in 

being given the original set of deeds dating back to its construction in 1790. It has now been possible to compile a comprehensive record of 

the owners and occupiers of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings in this booklet. There follows a detailed listing of these and key events in its 

history.

Marlborough Buildings is often overlooked by visitors to Bath by its impressive neighbour - The Royal Crescent, which is a shame as its 

appearance and position is just as impressive. It was John Wood Senior (1704-1754) who became famous for a number of works which 

included St. John’s Hospital, Queens Square, the Royal Mineral Hospital, the North and South Parades and the Circus. He died before the 

completion of the latter and it was his son also called John Wood who was to complete it and go on to design the Assembly Rooms, Brock 

Street and finally the Royal Crescent which was finished in 1775. Sadly when he died in 1782, aged just 54,he was deeply in debt, partly due 

to financial conditions relating to his fathers earlier building speculations. It was his wife, Mary and their daughter, Elizabeth who was married 

to the Rev. James Tomlinson who were to inherit his debts and few assets. Her husband had built the Royal Crescent on land that he had 

leased from Sir Peter Rivers Gay on an original ground rent of £220. He would have continued with his designs for terraces on the remainder 

of this land. Unfortunately, no designs have survived of what he intended to construct on it. On January 12th 1786, there was a large Auction 

of his former properties which included lot 7 which was described as “a freehold site being west of the Royal Crescent”, which was eventually 

to be the site of Marlborough Buildings. An advert in the Bath Chronicle at the time describes it as a vacant piece of ground intended and 

planned for building houses. It describes a small house lately erected at the north end. This had already been built by Jeremiah Chivers and 

is today the Marlborough Tavern. The lot reached an auction price of £1970 and was bought by the builder John Fielder with his associates, 

James Broom, Thomas King and William Cross.it was to be John Fielder who often describes himself as an architect who was to design most 

of the 33 houses that were to be built on the site in due course. Although nos. 13 to 15 are attributed to John Palmer, based on an identical 

frontage to bee seen on those on the west side of Green Park Buildings designed by him. It is astonishing to think that within just 3 years by 

1790 the terrace was to be built and finished. John Fielder and his associates divided the long strip of ground which was not quite an acre 

into a number of plots on which they charged ground rents of between 9s and 12s 6d per foot, which equated to between £9 and £12 a 

property. They themselves had then to pay the owner of the plot - the Rivers Estate an annual rent of £220 that had been agreed with John 

Wood the younger in 1766.

John Fielder himself was one of the many builders and craftsmen who took on the leases and constructed the terrace. To finance this they 

would borrow from the bank or wealthy individuals. They in turn would sell them on completion to clear their debts and no doubt move on to 

the next one. At the rear of the row of houses were the Commons which at that time were fields. Although many architects had planned to 

build on them, they were never successful and it remains virtually unspoilt today with allotment and Victoria Park replacing them.

The early deeds that have come down to us for no. 31 Marlborough Buildings allow us to have an insight into how it was constructed. The 

initial document is dated 5th February 1788 and is the contract between Mark Fowles, the builder and John Fielder and his partners. Mark is 

described as a Tiler and Plasterer who was to have to pay a perpetual rent of £9.18s to them. It is very descriptive and explains exactly how 

it is to be built, although there was an opportunity to alter its interior. It has been difficult to find records relating to Mark apart from the fact at 

that time he was living nearby at 42 Rivers Street before moving to Murford Street. Fortunately, there are some early deeds with his signature 

on them. These relate to a mortgage for £600 that he received from Miss Mary Ann Rooper on the 12th January 1790 to finance the project. 

Tragically he was never  to see the completion as the next record we have for him is his burial at St. Swithins Church in June 1791. Miss 

Rooper herself was to die just 2 years later. 
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No.31 would have been completed by 22nd March 1792 as this was the date on the deed for its sale to Sir George Colebrooke by the 

trustees, John George and Richard Hewlett. Sir George would have been aged 63 at that time and was living with his wife, Mary and 

some of their children at the new built house. They had moved just a short distance from the Royal Crescent which had been their home 

for a number of years. Sir George’s life has been well documented in an article called the “Shah of Alum” by Stuart Boydell which can be 

found on the historyofbath website. It would seem that he had been an English banker, member of parliament for Arundel and chairman 

of the East India Company before settling in Bath. His speculations had caused him to lose a fortune and escape to France. On his 

return he endeavoured to pay off all his debts, which he had succeeded by the time of his death in 1809. During his familes long period 

of residency at no. 31 he was very active in the life of Bath and his name appears regularly in the pages of the Bath Chronicle.

Again, the deeds to the house are useful in that they give an insight into his life there. He was to pay Mark Fowles trustees £1225 for the 

property and take out a £900 mortgage with the Rev. Charles Daubeny to finance it. This gentleman is famous as being the first minister 

at the nearby Christ Church which he helped finance. The mortgage  was only to be for a year as he later increased it to £1600, which he 

borrowed from the wealthy Woollen Draper, Arthur Jones. A deed for 1802 shows Sir George transferring the house to his eldest son, 

George who was residing at Woodlands in Lyndhurst at that time. After her husbands death in 1809, Lady Colebrooke continued to live 

at no. 31 until her own death in 1818 and was buried in the family mausoleum in Chilham Church, their ancestral seat.

Until we received the deeds to the house, we were completely unaware of the next owner and assumed it was his tenant, Samuel Lane. 

They showed that Hastings Elwin had paid £1775 for no. 31 from the surviving trustees to Sir George who were his sons James and 

Henry Colebrooke. There is a marvellous article on Hastings Elwin in the Geological Curator for December 2005 which is online. He was 

a founding member of the Bath Royal Literary and Scientific Institution in 1825. Their building still stands today in Queens Square and 

provides a venue for a number of exhibitions and talks during the year. It is there that you can see a bust of the gentleman.

Although Hastings Elwin may never have lived at no.31 he did reside nearby in St. james Square and rented the house to Samuel Lane 

and his family. This gentleman would have already been renting the house when he moved in shortly after the death of Lady Colebrooke

in 1818. He would have been aged 69 in that year after a successful career as Collector of Taxes for Kings Lynn. Married to Elizabeth 

Mathew, they were to have 6 children, the most famous of whom was also named Samuel. He was to become a popular portrait artist 

and a number of those of his family can be seen in the Town Hall in Kings Lynn today. The Lane family were to reside at no.31 for the 

next 10 years before returning to King’s Lynn where Samuel was to died in 1835 aged 86.

There now follows a long chapter of ownership when in 1830 a rich widow buys the house. It is in that year that Mrs. Mary Marlow pays 

£1700 to Hastings Elwin for no.31. She was the widow of Michael Marlow, who had died in 1828, aged 71. He had been president of St. 

John’s College and Vice Chancellor of Oxford University as well as a Canon of Canterbury. They were to have no children and the 1841 

Census for the house show her living in the large property, aged 60, with just 3 servants. She was to continue to reside there until her 

death in 1848, when the house and contents were auctioned. An advert in the Bath Chronicle describes in detail the contents of each 

room.

The story of the house now becomes really interesting with the next owner of the house. The successful bidder at the auction on March 

14th, 1848 is Mrs. Anna Bourne. She is in fact a daughter of Samuel Lane who had lived there previously. It seems that she was living at 

the Circus in Bath in the year 1835, when her wealthy husband died in his 64th year and was buried in the Abbey, where there is a 

marble memorial to him. She pays just £1050, a drop of £700 on the price paid by Mrs Mary Jane Marlow in 1830. The census returns for 

1851 and 1861 again show her residing in the large house similar to her predecessor with just 4 servants for company. She was to live to 

a good age of 83 before  dying in 1869 and being buried in a fine tomb at the Church in Priston. There was to be a large auction of both 

the house and contents on February 10th  whose description appeared as an advert in the Bath Chronicle.
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The successful bidder at the auction was local solicitor, Henry Holland Burne who paid £1300 to the trustees, Mrs Harriett Hammond 

(sister) and Frederick William Lane (brother). We are fortunate that an early photograph can be found in the collection of the National 

Portrait Gallery. Again, it was not until the deeds were studied for no.31 Marlborough Buildings that it could be seen that he and his 

trustees were the owners from 1848 until 1931. He in fact was to only reside there for 20 years. In 1890 he bought both 27 and 28 

Marlborough Buildings, which were a short distance away and rented no. 31. He then instructed the architects, Browne and Gill to

design three storey extensions on all three properties which still can be seen today. He played a very important part in the life of Bath 

during his life and reached the good old age of 81 before his death in 1911. He was extremely wealthy and left an estate of £215,000 

- a considerable amount for those times.

The house was to be let for a number of years to a series of wealthy tenants. The first of these was in 1891 when Mrs Catherine 

Charlewood moved in with her daughter Mrs. Catherine Caldecot. Both were widows and the 1891 and 1901 Censuses shows them 

there with their Cook, Maid, Housemaid and Parlour Maid. It is on the death of the mother in 1904, aged 84, that the house is put up 

for sale. The lease is eventually bought by Colonel Charles Webster. The 1911 Census described him as retired aged 73 with his 

wife Mary who is 26 years his junior with their four servants. His wife continued to live at the address after his death in 1916 for a 

couple of years until her own death in 1918.

The house was again advertised with its contents in the Bath Chronicle on the 12th February of that year and sold to another widow, 

Mrs Emily Grafton and her daughter, Lilian. Her late husband, Frederick, had been a wealthy industrialist from Accrington where he 

had a Calico Factory. The 1921 Census described her as aged 90 living with her daughter, Lilian, aged 59 and 5 servants. She was 

to die three years later and her daughter was to live on until 1936.

It was May Butterworth who was to pay just £750 for no. 31 Marlborough Buildings in 1931. It was sold by Henry Burnes trustees 

who were Richard Higgins Burne and Ernest Wallace Rooke. May was living at 11 Miles Buildings at the time of the sale. The Street 

had gone into decline and the days of the wealthy residents had disappeared and been replaced with multiple occupants. The 

directories showed that a number of properties were completely empty. May only lived there for 5 years and was  then bought for 

just £500 by John Charles Richardson who was there briefly and sold it in 1937 to Joseph Matthews for £650 who described himself 

as a Dairyman living at 79 Wells Road in Bath on the contract. He had a number of properties which he rented out. Judging from 

newspaper reports on various court cases that he was a ruthless landlord with his tenants. Directories show the house was split into 

a number of apartments. Bath was badly bombed during the war and the house received some damage. There is a letter in the 

archives that reveals that Joseph Matthews had claimed £125 for war damage.

In 1959 the house was bought by Giuseppe Cicerello and Domenico Toto from Joseph Matthews.

Domenico Toto the following year sold his interest for £385 to his relation Giuseppe Cicirello, who was already living in part of it. The 

Bath Record Office has a copy of the plans submitted in 1962 by Giuseppe for alterations to the rear of the building. He was born in 

Sicily in 1909 and was married to Angela Toto. He continued to let part of the property and this which was continued by his son 

Mario after his death in 1981, aged 72.

Finaly in 2022 the house was offered for sale by the Cicirello family after over 60 years of ownership and bought by Paul and Daria 

Mattingly and their family. 

This booklet can only cover a fraction of the fascinating history of no.31 and as more information comes to light it will be updated 

and added to the freshford.com website page. Neil Mattingly. 
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Owners and Occupiers of 31 Marlborough Buildings. Bath. 



Owners and Occupiers of 31 Marlborough Buildings. Bath. 



The site of Marlborough Buildings was 

originally a field known as the “Hayes 

Furlong” which formed a part of Barton 

Farm. On 16 June 1699, William Saunders 

sold the Manor and Rectory of Walcot, except 

Barton Farm to Robert Gay, surgeon, of 

London. This gentleman had married his 

daughter, Mary. In the early eighteenth 

century, Robert Gay had apparently also 

come into possession of Barton Farm, 

probably by virtue of his wife's inheritance. 

When Robert Gay died in 1737, he left the 

Bath property to his daughter Margaret, by 

his second wife. She died without issue in 

1765 and left the estate to her brother-in-law, 

Sir Benet Garrard who, in 1767, bequeathed 

all his Bath estate to Sir Peter Rivers, who 

took the name of Gay. 

It was on the fields of Barton Farm that John 

Wood Senior was to design   many of his 

famous buildings including Queens Square 

and The Circus. It`s strange today to think 

that the original farm house now forms part 

of the rear of Jolly`s department Store in 

Milsom Street (see photos in 1850 and 

today).

The Circus

Site of Marlborough
Buildings

Site of 
Royal Crescent

A South West Prospect of Bath by T. Robins 1757

Rear of Jollys in 2022

Early History of the site where Marlborough Buildings was to be built from 1787 -1790

Queens Square

Barton Farm House in 1856



John Wood Senior was to die in 

1754, aged just 50, with his work 

on the Circus unfinished. It was 

his son, John Wood the Younger 

who was to complete this by 1768.  

The conveyance of the ground was 

granted to Wood and Thomas 

Brock, his trustee, by the landlord, 

Sir Benet Garrard, in December,

1766, at a ground rent of £220 per 

annum. Work on the Royal 

Crescent commenced early in 1767 

. The Circus by John Robert Cousins in 1773 showing John 
Wood the Younger`s finished work from his father's design

The Royal Crescent painted by Thomas Malton in 1767 . John 
Wood`s Architectural Masterpiece which  was begun in 1767

John Wood Junior  leases of the Land on which Marlborough Buildings was to be built in 1766 for £220 per annum.

Several individual contractors and craftsmen worked 
independently on the houses. Wood engaged them to 
carry out uniform exteriors, according to his plans, but 
gave them freedom to alter interiors to suit individual 
tenants. The builders, having arranged with tenants to 
lease the houses for a term of years, then took their 
agreements to the bank, and had no difficulty in obtaining 
money to commence work.
He no doubt planned building on the site. Unfortunately, 
by the time of his death in  1782, aged just 54, he was 
terribly in debt and the site was left to his wife, Mary. A 
Deed in the Bath Record Office shows that in January 
1786 she had been released of the original ground rent of 
£220 from Sir Peter Rivers Gay.
There was an auction of her husband`s  former properties 
on January 17 1787, where the site of Marlborough 
Buildings was later described as:
`Lott 7, a freehold site being west of the Royal Crescent’

John Wood Senior



A copy of the original Lease taken out by John Wood Junior on the Lands then owned by Sir Bennet Gerrard in 1766 for £220 a year

1. Sir Benet Garrard of Lamer Hertfordshire, bart. devisee in the will of Margaret Garrard of Hatton Garden in the parish of St. Andrew 

Holborne Middlesex, widow, deceased.

2. John Wood of the parish of Walcot Somerset, Esquire and Thomas Brock of Chester Cheshire, Esquire a trustee of John 

Wood.Conveyance from 1 to 2 in trust subject to rent of two parcels of ground called Hayes Furlong and Upper Hayes Furlong in Walcot. 

Rent: £250. 20 Dec 1766 0473/1/12/1 



The Marlborough Tavern – 1791 John Wingrove (Victualler)

ESTATES in BATH.                             Bath Chronicle 12th January   1786

To be sold by Private Contract, either together or in the following lots,
Lot VII. The inheritance in Fee, of all that vacant Piece of Ground 
intended and planned for building houses, and for a Street called Milk 
Street, lying on the Westward side of the. crescent, and next the grounds 
called the Town Commons, being very pleasantly situated and desirable 
for the intended purpose, together with the Ground-Rent, in fee of £3 
per annum, payable quarterly, and charged on a small house lately 
erected at the North end of the said vacant building ground.
All the said Ground-Rents are well secured and issuing out of the very 
valuable houses and buildings, and may be collected with ease and 
certainty, equal to a land tax.
Persons wishing to purchase any particular rent issuing out of their 
respective houses will upon application as under be accommodated.
For further particulars apply to Mr. Symons, attorney, in Corn Street, 
Bristol, Mr. Fielder, Builder, in Rivers Street, Bath or to Messrs, 
Jenkins, James and Abbott, at tourney, New Inn, London.

The Bath Chronicle, 12 January 1786 had an advert for a number of

properties that were being auctioned amongst them was lot VII 

shown on the right. This was to be the piece of ground that 

Marlborough Buildings was to go up on. It is very descriptive of the 

land  as follows:  “The inheritance in fee on all that vacant piece of 

land intended and planned for building houses and for a street 

called Milk Street lying on the westward side of the Crescent and 

next to the grounds called Town Commons, being very pleasantly 

situated and desirable for the intended purpose together with clear 

ground rent in fee of £3.00 per annum payable quarterly and 

charged on a small house erected on the north of the said vacant 

ground”. The small House was known as Chivers and was to 

eventually be renamed “The Marlborough Tavern”.

It reached an auction price of £1970 and  was bought by John  

Fielder, James Broom, Thomas King and William Cross. The 

beneficiary was Mary Wood`s daughter, Elizabeth who was married 

to Rev. James Tomlinson, Rector of Davenham in Cheshire. 

The Auction in January 1786 of the Land on which Marlborough Buildings was to built within just four years. 



John Fielder and his partners purchase the plot of land in 1786 and start soon after building Marlborough Buildings on the site.

This watercolour by Thomas Mallon painted in 1769 allows us to glimpse workman in the foreground finishing the blocks of Bath Stone which 
would have also been used later in 1788 for the construction of Marlborough Buildings. John Fielder was to pay £1970 for nearly an acre of 
ground in January 1786 on which were to be built a terrace of 34 houses. He was in partnership with James Broom, Thomas King and William 
Cross who were wealthy Bath tradesmen. A number of deeds have survived for some of the properties in Bath Record Office. The original 
indentures are very descriptive of how the work was to be carried out and are listed in number order from the first house that was built for Mr. 
Chivers ( now Marlborough Tavern) in 1785. Some of them may well have been designed by John Fielder who some often described himself as an 
architect as well as Builder, Tiler and Plasterer. Though nos. 13,14,15 have been attributed to Thomas Baldwin. It is astonishing that the Terrace 
was completed in the space of three years by 1790. Some of the houses were kept by the builders and the remainder sold on to wealthy citizens. 
John Fielder and his partners charged annual ground rents between £9 and £12, which showed a healthy profit on their original investment. 
Although they were to continue to pay to the Rivers Estate the £220 annual rent agreed with John Wood the Younger in 1766.



A Plan of the Commons belonging to the Freeman of Bath by Charles  Trimnell, dated, c.1790. Marlborough Buildings had just been built. 

The caption reads: The Ditch on which 

Marlborough Buildings are Erected contains not 

quite One Acre of Ground, about 2 years ago had 

not a House over it, has now 33 good Houses built 

upon it, and brings in £400 pr Ann: more than 

double the neat produce of the Commons… most 

beautifully and advantageously situated. NB the 

Ground Rent of Marlborough Buildings is at the 

Rate of 12s 6d, 10s 6d and 9s per Foot. 



A Plan of the  Bath Common in 1829

A Plan of the Estate of the Freemen of the City of Bath in 1875

Maps of Bath Common at the rear of Marlborough Buildings over the Centuries.

Aerial view of the Common in 2022

At the rear of Marlborough Buildings is a large unspoilt area known as the Bath Common which has survived development over the centuries and 

now forms part of Victoria Park, Bath Approach Golf Course, Allotments. It was formerly part of the larger Walcot Estate and was owned by the 

Freemen of Bath. The early maps shown here reveal how little it has changed over the years. It is now administered by Bath City Council.



Plans for building on the Commons by George Manners in 1827



A Prospect of The Royal Crescent and Marlborough Buildings  by  Jacob Spornberg in 1801



References to Marlborough Buildings

John Wood the Younger: The demand for houses was great and was increasing: more and more visitors were coming to Bath, ready and anxious to take a 
house for the season. What simpler than to create a longer street in a fashionable area that was growing so rapidly?
He had another, and more significant reason, however, for lengthening Brock Street. At the western end of the street there was a large plot of gently sloping 
ground adjoining the Common. Wood saw this as the perfect site for an ambitious plan that had been exercising his mind for some time — a plan that involved 
the design and erection of a great crescent of houses in the Palladian style. Because the Common could never be built upon, his new houses would have an 
uninterrupted outlook down to the Bristol road and beyond; and they would very conveniently be linked to the Circus by an extended Brock Street.
So, with the scheme taking shape in his mind, Wood designed the houses m' Brock Street with modest facades. Nothing grandiose, he argued, should distract 
people as they approached the new crescent; a gentle stroll from the Circus along a dignified, but unremarkable street — and then the breathtaking View of 
his Palladian master- piece would explode before their eyes. It was a masterly conception; and it is as valid today as it was more than two hundred years ago.
The conveyance of the ground was granted to Wood and Thomas Brock, his trustee, by the landlord, Sir' Benet Garrard, in December, 1766, at a ground rent 
of €200 per annum. Work commenced early in I767 and, as we have seen, the foundation stone of the first house was laid in May of that year. Several 
individual contractors and craftsmen worked independently on the houses. The conditions under which they were employed were simple and effective. Wood 
engaged them to carry out uniform exteriors, according to his plans, but gave them freedom to alter interiors to suit individual tenants. The builders, having 
arranged with tenants to lease the houses for a term of years, then took their agreements to the bank, and had no difficulty in obtaining money to commence 
work”.

The circumstances of his marriage, too, were found to admit of much extenuation. This was an article not to be entered on by himself; but a very intimate friend 

of his, a Colonel Wallis, a highly respectable man, perfectly the gentleman (and not an ill-looking man, Sir Walter added), who was living in very good style in 

Marlborough Buildings, and had, at his own particular request, been admitted to their acquaintance through Mr. Elliot, had mentioned one or two things 

relative to the marriage, which made a material difference in the discredit of it. 

Chapter 15 Persuasion by Jane Austen. 

” The speculative boom still in its infancy? We hear with pleasure that Mr.Symons has let the ground for twenty-seven houses in Camden-place [later Camden 
Crescent], and that Mr.Spackman has nearly let the whole ground that is to form the New Crescent [Lansdown Crescent]. A very grand plan, we also learn, is 
drawn of new streets, a circus, and square, to be built in Bathwick meadows; which for elegance and convenience will at least equal any buildings in this city. 
A range of 30 capital houses {Marlborough Buildings] is also erecting west of the [Royal] Crescent. // Bath, as a city, is certainly only in its infancy; for being 
a central point, abounding with all the luxuries of life, all the amusements for the gay, or the rational society for the aged, and healing waters for the deceased 
[i.e. diseased], who can wonder that all the opulent, who are not obliged to reside part of the year in London, should prefer such a residence; or that single 
gentlemen or ladies of small fortunes should retire to such a place, where they may live as reasonable as in a village in Yorkshire?”
Bath Chronicle 8 Mar 1787

Higher up is the Royal Crescent, a majestic assemblage of buildings of an elliptical form, with a single order of Ionic pillars, supporting the lower cornice. It 
consists of thirty elegant houses, with a fine lawn in front, declining towards the Avon, and commands a very extensive prospect over the city and the opposite 
hills. By the west end of this Crescent runs that beautiful and airy pile called Marlborough Buildings. A Guide to all the Watering Places; (1803) by R 
Philllips

Returning to Marlborough Lane and heading N uphill, the long terrace of Marlborough Buldings brings urban Bath to an abrupt end. The development, on the w 
side only, was promoted by a tiler, plasterer and a statuary mason on land obtained in 1787. The houses are plain with unadorned arched doorways, a 
characteristic motif of the ending C18, except for the much more elaborate central trio, Nos. 13—15. They mark the end of the vista from Brock Street across the 
front of the Royal Crescent. Their central first-floor Windows have pediments set in shallow arches with decorative panels either side (cf. Nos. 28—30 Green Park 
by Palmer — see Walk 11, p. 251). The larger rooms, at the back, over- look the view, with the staircase to the front. Originally identical, many at the N end have 
C19 bathroom and porch excrescences: Nos. 17—18, porches by Hayward of Wooster, 1885—7; Nos. 22 and 27, porches by F. W. Gardiner, 1905 and 1910; No. 25, a 
full—height extension with a French mansard roof by W. E. Tovey, builders, 1885.



1852 Cotterell Map

Early Maps of Marlborough Buildings

1795 Harcourt Masters  Map 1886 Ordnance Survey Map

Close up of 1852 Cotterell Map



Map showing Marlborough Buildings in 1884 Map showing Marlborough Buildings in2022

Maps of Marlborough Buildings in 1884 and 2022



John Fielder  and  his partners  who built  Marlborough Buildings are listed in the Bath Directory in 1792

William Gye printed a series of Directories annually for Bath which provide valuable information on the inhabitants and 

their residences. The one for 1792 is especially important in locating the individuals whose names appear with John 

Fielder as partners when he bought the land on which Marlborough buildings was to be later built. I have abstracted 

those applicable below with their trade and residence in that year. I have also added their various signatures which 

appear on most of the early indentures for Marlborough Buildings. Although many are described as Builders, they in fact 
ran successful specialist businesses which I hope to show in the following pages.

John Fielder 

James Broom

William Cross

Thomas King

Richard Hewlett



John Fielder – The Builder who purchased the Land on which Marlborough Buildings was built on.

January 1790 Bath Rates
Mrs. Bertie by Thomas King
Thomas Cobb Esq by John 
Fielder
Mrs. Vigor by Charles Viner
Rev. M. Leigh by John Chapman 
(Builder - Margarets Buildings)
William Falk Greville Esq
John Slade Esq.
Mrs. Clark by Richard Hewlett
Mr. Bossiness by James Broom
Mr. S. Gibbons
Mr. Christopher Anstey
Thomas Cobb is renting no. 22 
from John Fielder 

1790 Poor Rates 
James Broom
James Dimbleton
Timmus Trotman
John Alexander
Daniel Powney - Brewer
Mary Allford
Thomas Coward
Joseph Scrope
William Lutwyche
Joseph Ickyl
John Boison
J. Slade & Stables
Ann Clarke

A Plan of the ground floor 
of no. 16 Marlborough 

Buildings as it would have 
appeared soon after being 

built c.1790

1791 Poor Rates 
Ann Foly
Theresa Metcalf
John Monck
Lucy Phillips
Rev. Dr. Webster
John Evelyn
Christopher Ansty
Wilding
David Mill
Hare
Richard Fitzherbert
Colonel John Strode
Pearce Walsh
Sir George Colebrooke
Rev. Timpson
Kindersley
James Green



The Earliest records of occupation of Marlborough Buildings



John Fielder – The Builder who purchased the Land on which Marlborough Buildings was built on.

John Fielder is the gentleman who purchased the strip of land at the Auction in 1786 for £1970 on 
which Marlborough buildings was to rise up in just a couple of years. He was a successful Builder who 
had already been involved with a number of sites and was to in time behind the development of St. 
James Square. He was born in Bath in 1737 and was to later marry Elizabeth Kempster in 1765. She was 
to later die and he remarried Ann Shaw in 1783. He first appears as a Plasterer in an advert for an 
Auction of six houses in Bath. The Rates for River Street show him renting out four houses. He lives 
and runs his business from no. 1 in this street which is the first house on the left in the Pen and ink 
drawing by James Blackamore in 1774. The house is still standing as is seen in the photograph on the 
right.

Rivers Street in 1776 by James Blackamore



John Fielder – The Builder who purchased the Land on which Marlborough Buildings was built on.

In March 1790 Sir Peter Rivers Gay, Lord of the Manor of Walcot granted to Richard Hewlett and James Broom a 99 years building lease of 

some land to the north of the Royal Crescent, beyond the road then known as Cottle's Lane. This land consisted of orchards and gardens 

which at the time were tenanted by various residents of the Crescent.The lease was granted to Hewlett and Broom on the condition that they 

would spend at least £10,000 "in erecting buildings and finishing stone messuages", and they engaged John Palmer to design the layout and 

elevations for a residential square with four tributary streets. Building was begun as soon as the site could be cleared, and most of the houses 

were completed by 1794. John Fielder and Thomas King were among the builders associated with the project. Marlborough Street forms one 

of the four diagonal approaches to St James's Square

St. James`s Square by R. Woodroffe 1829



Ann Fielder (1737-1815) married 1783 
John Fielder (1738-1815)

John Fielder – The Builder who purchased the Land on which Marlborough Buildings was built on.

The marriage of John Fielder, 
Widow to Ann Shaw in 1783

An abstract from John Fielders extensive 
Will of properties that he owned “I direct 
that the said annuity of Twenty Pounds be 
charged against my house in Marlborough 
Buildings in the occupation of Thomas 
Cobb Esq”. Probate of will of 14 Mar. 

1815,JohnFielder, Esq., Walcot, proved 24 
Sep. 1815

The Rates for Rivers Street have Charles 
Fielder living there with his father, John 

who is shown with 4 houses. 

The record for the burial of John Fielder 
of St. James`s Square in 1815, aged 77

Bath Chronicle 19 July 1770

The marriage of John Fielder to 
Elizabeth Kempster 1765

John Fielder`s Signature

The Auction of John 
Wood`s property 

with Mr. John 
Fielder in River 

Street assisting with 
particulars.

Marlborough Buildings Rates for 
1790. Thomas Cobb Esq.is renting 
no. 22 from John Fielder 

.



John Fielder – The Builder who purchased the Land on which Marlborough Buildings was built on.

Bath Chronicle June 1786

Ground Rents in Fee,
Amounting to £400 and upwards per 
Annum. To be sold by Auction, at 
Garraways Coffee House, Exchange Alley, 
London, in October next (unless before 
disposed by private Contract, of which 
timely notice will be given)
The said Rents are well secured on 34 
Capital well-built Houses, comprising the 
whole of that elegant pile 
called Marlborough- Buildings, 
situated on the West of the Royal Crescent 
in the city of Bath; which Houses are now 
let at the yearly rent of £3,300 per annum 
and upwards, clear of taxes. For particulars 
enquire of Mr. Fielder, builder, Bath, or 
of William Pollard, Esq., no. 20 Swithins
Lane, London. 
1 September 1791 - Bath Chronicle and 
Weekly Gazette - Bath, Somerset, England

To be Lett on Lease,
An Elegant and Convenient House, situated 
in Marlborough Buildings, with or without 
Coach House and Stable. The Furniture to 
be taken at a fair valuation, or it will be let, 
furnished for the term. Enquire 0f 
Mr. Fielder, No. t, River Street. 
01 January 1795 - Bath Chronicle

Mr. Richard Birch, Grocer of Bristol to Miss Ann 
Fielder, Eldest daughter of Mr. John Fielder, 

Architect of this city. May 1787  Bath Chronicle 

Sunday was married at the Chapel in the Square, 
Mr. John Fielder, Builder, to Miss Ann Shaw, 

of this City. December 1783  Bath Chronicle 

John Fielder, Widower marriage to Hannah Demery 
in 1803

No. 1 River Street – 1st on left.



James Broom (died 1790) – one of  John Fielder`s partners who bought the land on which Marlborough Buildings was built on.  

Marlborough Buildings 
Rates for 1790 show Mr
Boisone buying  no. 14 
from James Broom

James Broom, p. Walcot, c. Somerset, Carpenter and Builder, 
bequethes as follows;
Whereas he has, with others, taken certain freehold and leasehold 
grounds in order to let the same for building by contract, as a tenant in 
common with other the owners, his eldest son James shall have sole 
power to carry such contracts into execution and in contracting for the 
same.. - an extract from his Will 27 July 1790

James Broom name appears on all the indentures that were drawn up for the various Builders who worked on the 34 houses that were to form 
Marlborough buildings. He is one of the partners who purchase the original plot of land with John Fielder fir £1975. He is described as a 
Carpenter in these deeds living in Walcot. We can be more precise with his address thanks to the Bath Directory of 1792 which shows him as a 
Carpenter and Builder living at no.9 Belvedere in Bath. The 1790 Rates book show him selling no. 14 to John Boissir. He is also the builder of 
no. 27 and leaves it to his wife, Betty on his death who sells it in 1793 to Davis Mill for £1480. He with Richard Hewlett in 1790 takes out a 99 
year lease from Sir Peter Rivers Gay for a piece of land which they build a number of houses in St. James`s Square. His extensive Will shows 
him owning a number of properties in Bath and it is his son, James who carries on his trade a builder.

To be let or sold in that much desired situation, with of 
without a coach house and stable, that Capital Dwelling 
House, no. 21, perfectly well aired, having been inhabited one 
season. Also several other houses of different descriptions in 
and near Bath.
Likewise Several small tenements. Enquire of James Broom, 
Surveyor, Belvedere. January 1796 Bath Chronicle

9 Belvedere today 
and from a 

photograph dating 
back to 1856



William Cross – 18 Milsom Street

2022

William Cross name appears on all the indentures that were drawn up for the various Builders who worked on the 34 houses that were to form 
Marlborough buildings. He is one of the partners who purchase the original plot of land with John Fielder fir £1975. He is described as a 
Upholster. He in fact is a very successful businessman with a shop where H.M.V store is today at no. 18 Milsom Street. He was originally I in 
partnership with Arthur Trimmnel and l left him in 1769 to spread his wings in recently built Milsom Street as 'upholder, appraiser, undertaker 
and auctioneer', an increasingly common mix of functions. 

Milsom Street by J.C. Nattes in 1806 



William Cross – 18 Milsom Street

2022

Cross, William, Milsom St, Bath, 
Som., upholder, auctioneer and 
undertaker (1771–84). In 1771–72 
supplied Bath Corporation with 
furnishings costing £280 and in 
January 1778 with a mahogany 
library table £12 12s. [Bath Corp. 
Records

No.18 Milsom Street can be seen on 
the right. The shop is now H.M.V.



Thomas King – Statuary Walcot

Thomas King`s name appears on all the indentures that were drawn up for the various Builders who worked on the 34 houses that were to form 
Marlborough buildings. He is one of the partners who purchase the original plot of land with John Fielder fir £1975. He is described as a  
Statuary  Mason living in Walcot. He was the leading marble mason in Bath in the second half of the eighteenth century, advertised his prices in 
the Bath Chronicle in 1786. Advertisements including reference to chimney pieces and other materials for the building trade show the 
importance of that market to marble masons’ businesses. Tablets would have been cheaper than monuments but still relatively expensive for 
most families. By his death in 1804 he had amassed a considerable property portfolio including houses in St. James Square, Dover Street, 
Bennet Street, Mount Pleasant, Paragon, and Beaufort Place, Walcot where he died leaving a substantial estate to his sons who continued the 
business. In his will he provided £20 for a monument to himself duly executed by his sons in Woolley church on the outskirts of Bath. 

Walcot Street in 1776 by James Blackamore.



Thomas King – Statuary Walcot

25 June 1789. Crime: theft - 3 horses in possn
Thomas King, statuary stolen from field in Pound 
Lane near Walcot turnpike on Sat 20 Jun. Horses 
since recovered. Reward from Thomas King for 
conviction of offender/s of 10 guineas  over & 
above reward given by Bath Society of Guardians.

Goods: ## Thomas King statuary -
marble chimney pieces £6 to £60. 
Monuments 8 guineas to 50 guineas.

The most striking feature is that two firms, the 
Kings and the Reeves, produced 210 or 64%. Only 
6 firms produced more than 10 works and the 
other 19 produced only 49 or 15%. The latter 
group comprise some who were primarily 
professional sculptors producing a memorial only 
occasionally, some who were more involved in the 
building trade as builder, supplier or architect and 
some whose career was short or low in signed 
works. The Kings and the Reeves were 
outstandingly successful in memorial marble work 
with the Biggs and Lancashires providing 
competition in the heyday of the trade.

Rogers & Son’s yard, Widcombe c1862



n ‘The Georgian Buildings of Bath’, Walter Ison comments that no architect has been named in connection with the design of the elevations but 
the first houses to be built, Nos 13-15, bear all the hallmarks of John Palmer . No. 28 – 30 Green Park by Palmer An elegant, riverside area, 

Green Park was originally designed by the architect John Palmer in 1792.

Nos. 13 – 15 Marlborough Buildings .

1799 marked the 

beginning of the site 

which we now know 

as Green Park. Begun 

by city architect 

were John Palmer and 

completed by the 

elder John 

Pinch in 1808. It must 

have been an attractive 

development, with two 

rows of houses looking 

onto a pleasant green 

and surrounded by 

mature trees. Sadly, the 

east side was 

destroyed as a result of 

the air raids in 1942. 

Although the west side 

known as Green Park 

Buildings still remains, 

it’s appearance seems 

somewhat isolated, 

which not surprising 

when you realize that 

half the original 

development no longer 

exists.



Richard Hewlett died 1798 

Lately died in South-Wales, Mr. Richard Hewlett, 
many years an eminent builder of this city. 13 
December 1798 - Bath Chronicle

The Commissioners in a Commission of Bankrupt. 
awarded and issued forth against RICHARD 
HEWLETT, of the parish of Walcot, In the county 
of Somerset, builder, dealer and chapman, Intend 
to meet on the 11th day of April  4th April 1799 -
Bath ChronicleTo be sold by Auction, at the Argyle Coffee House 

next the 5th of October, at Four o'clock in tbe
afternoon! in Two Lots Being property belonging to 
the Estate of the late RICHARD HEWLETT, of 
Bath, Bankrupt) Lot I. A Valuable PIECE of 
GROUND, being about 500 feet in front, facing the 
Royal Crescent in the Upper Bristol Road, Bath, 
most desirably situated for Building, and held under 
Lease from Sir Thomas Rivers at £26 per Annum.26 
September 1799 - Bath Chronicle

For Sale by Auction by Mr. Plura, by order of the 
Assignees, on Saturday October 28th , preceisely at 
Eleven, At the Argyle Coffee-House, Bathwick, 
PART of the PROPERTY of 
Mr. RICHARD HEWLETT, Bankrupt, ( Under 
Mortgage to the Assignees of Cross, Bayliss and 
others) viz. Lot I. A desirable ESTATE, 26 October 
1797 - Bath

He married Diana Kingston in 1769 



Richard Hewlett died 1798 

BATH, July 21ft, 1791. All persons who stand indebted to 
the Estate of the late MARK FOWLES, Tyler and 
Plasterer, deceased, or to the Co partnership between him 
and his Nephew, THOMAS FOWLES, are requested to pay 
the same to Richard Hewlett, Marlborough Street, or Mr. 
John George, Gloucester Street, Bath – and all persons 
having demands upon the Estate of the said Mark Fowles 
deceased, or on the Co-partnership, are desired to send in 
their accounts as above. 
28 July 1791 - Bath Chronicle

Marlborough Street where Richard Hewlett lived



Extract from the Deeds to 32 Marlborough Buildings which was built by Richard Hewlett in 1788-1790

1. John Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer; James Broom of the parish of Walcot Somerset, carpenter; Thomas King of 
Walcot, statuary.
2. William Cross of Bath, upholsterer trustee of 1.
3. Richard Hewlett of Bath, carpenter and William Hewlett of Bath, carpenter trustee of Richard Hewlett.
Conveyance from 1 to 3 subject to rent of a messuage in Marlborough Buildings. Rent: £9:9. 5 Feb 1788



Extract from the Deeds to 32 Marlborough Buildings

32, Marlborough Buildings, Bath
Extract from Deed of Grant dated 5th February 1788 between John Fielder, James Broom and Thomas King (1) William Cross (2) Richard 
Hewlett and William Hewlett (3)
And the said  Richard Hewlett for himself his heirs, executors, administrators and assigns doth covenant promise and grant to and with the said William Cross 
his heirs and assign by these presents in manner following (that is to say) that he the said Richard Hewlett his heirs and assigns shall and will truly pay or cause 
to be paid the said perpetual yearly fee farm rent or yearly rent charge of £9.9.0. herein before served unto the said William Cross his heirs and assigns  as 
aforesaid in manner and at the times and place hereinbefore appointed for payment thereof free from all taxes am deductions whatsoever Parliamentary or 
otherwise howsoever according to the reservation aforesaid and the true intent and meaning of these presents.
And also that he the said Richard Hewlett his heirs and assigns shall and will with all convenient speed at his or their own costs and charges perfectly complete 
and finish the whole and every part of the said messuage or tenement now building by him the said Richard Hewlett on the said hereby conveyed premises in a 
firm good and substantial manner and with sound and good materials of all sorts which house is to and shall cover and contain the whole breadth of the east 
front of the plot of ground hereby granted and shall extend in depth backwards 47' and not more including walls and to be four storeys high including garrets 
and including parlour or ground floor but exclusive of the kitchen and other underground offices and the east and west fronts thereof are to be of ashlar stone a 
doors windows and height and with such ornaments and agreeable to such order of building as is mentioned and described in a plan drawn and signed as well by 
the said Richard Hewlett as by the said John Fielder, James Brown and Thomas King and shall pave a footway next to and before the whole front area of the said 
house of the breadth of 7' good penant stone smooth faced well jointed and neatly laid down according to the rules of good workmanship which shall be 6" 
inches high above the carriage road and shall border or bond the same next to the said carriage road with a good strong penant stone and border of 5 inch thick 
and shall border or how the said area next the said house with a good plinth stone 8" thick and 6" in height above the paving and on which shall put a neat non 
rail of 3 inch and 6 inch in height but no higher and paint the same lead colour and shall and will make and finish with all convenient speed and without any 
affected or continuous delay good strong and durable stone boundary walls abounding in the ground and premises herein before granted as well at the west end 
thereof as on the north and south sides thereof which walls are to be 6' high and no higher to be measured from the surface of the gardens and that the walls as 
well of the said messuage as of the court garden ground hereby granted on the north and south sides thereof shall be forever party walls between the said 
Richard Hewlett his heirs and assigns am the owner for the time being of the ground and messuages next immediately adjoining thereto on the north and south 
sides thereof and shall be paid for and repaired by them at their equal expense and that no building or erection whatsoever shall be at any time hereafter erected 
or built behind the west front part of the said messuage on the ground hereby granted that shall exceed in height above the level of the parlour floor of the said 
houses (except a necessary house which is not to extend westwards more than 6' in the clear nor more than 6' in height above the parlour floor and the flues(if 
any)  may be made in any building behind the said house shall be carried up the chimney flue of the said front house to the very top thereof and the roof of the 
said messuage shall be covered with stone or blue tile and the outside or form of building of the said intended messuage on the east side the said plot of ground 
hereby conveyed shall not after the same is built and finished as aforesaid be ever altered or varied all messuages now erected on the said plot of ground shall be 
completed he the said Richard Hewlett his heirs and assigns shall and will cleanse and tomb down the stone work on the outside thereof to end that no crack 
may appear and that the whole building may be of one colour.
Am also shall and will make and finish with all convenient speed and without any affected or continued delay fit  convenient sewers of proper height and breadth 
to the said messuage for conveying the foul and nasty water and other offensive matters from the said house into the common sewer to the intent that the said 
house may and always shall be clean and wholesome.
And that he the said Richard Hewlett his heirs and assigns shall and will from time to time and at all times for ever hereafter at his or their own costs and 
charges effectually lastingly and substantially repair maintain uphold cleanse glaze pave paint mend and keep all the said messuage and building whatsoever 
that now are erected or erecting or which shell or may hereafter be erected and built on the said plot of ground and premises herewith granted and conveyed or 
am part thereof with all appurtenances thereto belonging and also the said intended footway and vaults rails glass windows pavements sinks sewers drains 
gutters vaults and houses of office thereto belonging or in any wise appertaining in by and with all manner of good and lasting and substantial repairs and 
amendments whatsoever.



1. John Fielder of the City of Bath, c. Somerset, Tyler [tiler] and Plasterer, James Broom of the p. Walcot, Carpenter, and Thomas King, p. Walcot, Statuary.
2. William Cross of the city of Bath, Upholsterer, trustee for 1.
3. Charles Viner, p. Walcot, Statuary, and Charles Fielder, p. Walcot, Tyler [tiler] and Plasterer, trustee for Charles Viner. 4-5 February 1788 24 Marlborough 
Buildings

1. John Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer; James Broom of the parish of Walcot Somerset, carpenter; Thomas King of Walcot, statuary.
2. William Cross of Bath, upholsterer a trustee of 1.
3. Charles Viner of Bath, statuary and Charles Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer trustee of Charles Viner.
Conveyance from 1 to 3 in trust subject to rent of a messuage in Marlborough Buildings. Rent: £9:18. 4/5 Feb 1788 30 Marlborough Buildings

1. John Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer; James Broom of the parish of Walcot Somerset, carpenter and Thomas King of Walcot, statuary.
2. William Cross of Bath, upholsterer a trustee of 1.
3. Charles Viner of Bath, statuary.
Lease and release from 1 to 3 subject to rent of a messuage in Marlborough Buildings. Rent: £10:7. 4/5 Dec 1787 28 Marlborough Buildings

1. John Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer; James Broom of the parish of Walcot Somerset, carpenter; Thomas King of Walcot, statuary and William Cross of 
Bath, upholsterer.
2. William Phillips of Bath, coach maker and John Lee of Wormwood Park in the parish of Box Wiltshire, gent.
Lease from 1 to 2 for a year of a messuage in Marlborough Buildings. 4 Feb 1788 21 Marlborough Buildings

1. John Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer; James Broom of the parish of Walcot Somerset, carpenter; Thomas King of Walcot, statuary.
2. William Cross of Bath, upholsterer a trustee of 1.
3.  Mark Fowles, Plasterer and Tyler, Charles  Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer trustee of the third part.
Conveyance from 1 to 3 in trust subject to rent of a messuage in Marlborough Buildings. Rent: £9:18. 5 Feb 1788 31 Marlborough Buildings

1. John Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer; James Broom of the parish of Walcot Somerset, carpenter; Thomas King of Walcot, statuary.
2. William Cross of Bath, upholsterer trustee of 1.
3. Richard Hewlett of Bath, carpenter and William Hewlett of Bath, carpenter trustee of Richard Hewlett.
Conveyance from 1 to 3 subject to rent of a messuage in Marlborough Buildings. Rent: £9:9. 5 Feb 1788 32 Marlborough Buildings

1. John Fielder of Bath, tiler and plasterer; James Broom of the parish of Walcot Somerset, carpenter; Thomas King of Walcot, statuary.
2. William Cross of Bath, upholsterer a trustee of 1.
3. Richard Hewlett of Bath, carpenter.
Lease and release from 1 to 3 subject to rent of a messuage in Marlborough Buildings. Rent: £8:11. 5 Dec 1787 27 Marlborough Buildings 

1. John Fielder of the City of Bath, c. Somerset, Tyler [tiler] and Plasterer, James Broom of the p. Walcot, Carpenter, and Thomas King, p. Walcot, Statuary.
2. William Cross of the city of Bath, Upholsterer, trustee for 1.
3. Charles Fielder, city of Bath, Tyler [tiler] and Plasterer.
A plot of ground heretofore part of closes called the Hayes Furlong and the Hayes Lower Furlong, lately conveyed by James Tomkinson and Elizabeth Wood 
surviving trustees of John Wood late of the city of Bath, afterwards Batheaston, deceased, to 2. in trust for 1. Next to a street lately called Milk Street but now 
intended to be called Marlborough Buildings, bounded on the east by the street intended to be called Marlborough Buildings, on the west by the Town 
or Bath Commons, on the south by the part of the said premises conveyed to 2 in trust for Charles Viner, and on the north by the part of the said premises 
conveyed to 2. in trust for Thomas King.
Consideration: The building of a messuage or tenement upon the plot of land, and a fee farm rent of £10.7.0 annually.
Seals of the parties 4-5 February 1788. 25 Marlborough Buildngs

Records held in Bath Record Office relating to the original Leases of 1787/8 from John Fielder and his partners.  



Mark Fowles  (died in  1791) – The Builder of 31 Marlborough Buildings.

This Indenture made the 5th February 1788 between John Fielder of the City of Bath, Tiler and Plasterer, James Broom of the parish of Walcot, 
Carpenter, and Thomas King of Parish of Walcot, Statuary of the 1st Part. William Cross, Upholsterer a Trustee for them on the 2nd Part and 
Mark Fowles, Plasterer and Tiler, Charles Fielder, Tiler and Plasterer as Trustee for the 3rd Part. The said Mark Fowles is now building the house 
on a plot of ground to be finished in a manner herein mentioned without delay. In consideration of a yearly fee farm rent granted to the said 
William Cross and his heirs and for the sum of five shillings apiece to the said John Fielder, James Broom, Thomas King and William Cross by 
the said Mark Fowles and Charles Fielder. All that plot of ground part of certain Closes called by the name of Hayes Furlong and Hayes Lower 
Furlong in the parish of Walcot, conveyed lately by James Tomkinson and Elizabeth Wood(surviving trustees of John Wood late of the City of 
Bath Esquire unto the use of the said William Cross and his heirs but in trust for the said John Fielder, James Broom and Thomas King and 
their heirs as tenants in common containing in front East next to a certain Way or Street lately called Milk Street but now intended to be called 
Marlborough Buildings twenty two feet and in breadth backwards west nearly of the same breadth extending in length from the front of the 
building and westward to Ground called the Bath Commons belonging to the Mayor Aldermen and citizens of Bath and is bounded in the east by 
the said intended Street to be called Marlborough Buildings. On the west by the said lands called the Bath Common. On the South by the 
premises conveyed to the said William Cross but since conveyed to Charles Viner on which he is now building a house. On the north conveyed by 
William Cross to Richard Hewlett on which he is now building a house. Now building on the plot of ground east to west forty seven feet and also 
that area of seven feet wide before the east front. And also those vaults under the street. The house is the fourth from a corner house next to lane 
called Cottles Lane leading from Walcot to Weston lately belonging to Jeremiah Chivers. Mark Fowles and Charles Fielder paying yearly the 
perpetual yearly fee farm rent on the 24th day of June 1789 of £9 and 18/- in lawful money to the said William Cross and his heirs, but in trust for 
the said John Fielder, James Broom and Thomas King and their heirs as tenants in common.
The said mark Fowles shall finish the house as to a plan drawn up by the said john Fielder, James Broom and Thomas King and signed by them.
Refers to an Indenture on the 29th September 1787 between John Jeffrey’s of the city of Bath, Philip George of Bath of the 2nd part, James 
Tomlinson the Younger of Dorfold, Chester and Elizabeth Wood, late of Bath but then of Worcester widow of John Wood, late of Bath deceased 
who were the surviving trustees of the third part and john Fielder, James Broom and Thomas King of the forth part and William Cross as Trustee 
for the fifth part. In witness … signatures

We are very fortunate in that the original contract between John Fielder and his partners has survived and the builder, Mark Fowles for 31 

Marlborough Buildings. It is very detailed and is almost identical to those that were issued to the builders of the other houses in the Terrace. It is 

very descriptive of how it is to be built and supplies us with a wealth of information about what it was intended to look like when finished.

It is dated 5th February 1788 and is a contract between Mark and John Fielder and is partners. John is described as a Tiler and Plasterer and his 

partners : James Broom a Carpenter, Thomas King who produces Statuary, William Cross a Upholsterer. John’s son Charles Fielder is a trustee 

with Mark Fowles. The Indenture outlines the history of the plot of ground formerly part of a field known as Hayes Furlong owned by the trustees of 

John Wood the younger. It was formerly called Milk Lane, but now Marlborough Buildings. It was bounded at the rear by Bath Common belonging 

to the Mayor, Aldermen and Citizens of the said City. On the south were premises (30)that William Cross had since sold to Charles Viner on which 

he was building a house. On the north was a house (32)being built by Richard Hewlett. It is shown to be the fourth house from the corner house 

belonging to Jeremiah Chivers (now Marlborough Tavern). Mark has to pay a perpetual farm rent of £9 18/- from the 24th June 1789 to John 

Fielder and his partners and their heirs. He was to have to build at his own cost in a substantial manner and with sound and good materials and 

complete the whole and every part of the building. There then follows details of the way it was to built in great depth including a share of the 

common sewer. It also covered his insurance and rebuilding if lost in a fire. He and his heirs were not to carry out a great long list of trades 

including Currier, Blacksmith, Butcher and Victualler.

The long document is signed at the bottom by John Fielder, Thomas King, James Broom, William Cross, Charles Fielder and Mark Fowles in the 

presence of James Deverell and John Physick, clerks to Mr. Jefferys, Bath



Mark Fowles  (died in  1791) – The Builder of 31 Marlborough Buildings.

Mark  Fowles was buried at St. Swithin's
Church, Walcot, Bath in June 1791

To be sold – A House on the South side of Rivers Street, 
now in th possession of Mrs. Morgan, at 60 guineas a 
year, containing two rooms on a floor with every 
convenience. for further particular enquire of Mr. John 
George, Gloucester- Street; Mr. Edward Mullins, Rivers 
Street or Mr. Mark Fowles, Murford Street. 17 July 
1788 - Bath Chronicle

NOTICE TO CREDITORS. ALL Persons 
who have any demands on the Estate of 
MARK FOWLES, late of the city of Bath, 
plasterer and builder, deceased, are 
requested to send in the fame immediately 
to James Stallard & son, no.13 Morford 
Street, Bath in order that they may be 
adjusted and settled.12 July 1792 - Bath 
Chronicle

Mark Fowles is clearly shown as the builder of 31 Marlborough Buildings from the original contract of February 1788. There is very little 
information relating to him and his family that has been located. The 1792 Bath Directory is helpful as it shows his family living at 42 Rivers 
Street which is run as a Lodging House. The 1781 Rates confirm this and that he with his brother, Daniel live in the Street. This is also the Street 
where John Fielder and his partner, Charles Fielder live and is only a short distance from Marlborough Buildings. It would appear that shortly 
after completion of the house in 1790 he was to die the following year and was buried at St. Swithins church in Walcot. There is an interesting 
advert on the 28th July of that year requiring those who have debts with him and his nephew, Thomas to contact Richard Hewlett with their 

accounts. It was Richard Hewlett who built no. 32 Marlborough buildings at the same time.

1781 Rates for Rivers Street showing Mark 
Fowles and Daniel Fowles living there.

BATH, July 21ft, 1791. All persons who stand 
indebted to the Estate of the late MARK FOWLES, 
Tyler and Plasterer, deceased, or to the Co 
partnership between him and his Nephew, THOMAS 
FOWLES, are requested to pay the same to Richard 
Hewlett, Marlborough Street, or Mr. John George, 
Gloucester Street, Bath – and all persons having 
demands upon the Estate of the said Mark Fowles 
deceased, or on the Co-partnership, are desired to 
send in their accounts as above.  28 July 1791 -
Bath Chronicle

42 Rivers Street today 

Mark  Fowles 
was living at 42 

Rivers Street



12th January1790  Mortgage for Mark Fowles and Trustee from Miss Mary Ann Rooper serving £600 and Interest Page 1.

Mark Fowles was one of a number of skilled craftsmen who would build complete houses during the late 18th century boom in Bath. The outside 
followed a plan designed by the Architect and the inside allowed more freedom, although most floor plans had the same layout.He was described 
as a Plasterer and Tiler on the deeds that have survived with the house. In 1788 he signed a contract to the design of John Fielder who had earlier 
bought the land that the 31 houses were to be built on. To complete the construction, he borrowed £600 from Miss Mary Ann Rooper the 
following year and agrees to pay her 5% interest on the loan. Mary Ann came from a wealthy family who at that time were living in Brock Street in 
Bath. They had originated from Berkhampstead in Hertfordshire where they had owned the Castle. Her father, Godolphin Rooper died in 1790, 
aged 81 and her mother, Mary passed away in January 1793, leaving their daughter a considerable fortune. Tragically, Mary Annwas to survive her 
mother for only 4 months, before dying herself in May, aged just 41.

At Chelsea, Miss Marianne Rooper, youngest daughter "of the late 

Godolphin Rooper, esq. 30 May 1793 - Bath Chronicle 
Friday died at her house in Brock Street, Mrs. Rooper, widow of 

the late Goldolphin Rooper, esq 31 January 1793 - Bath Chronicle



12th January1790  Mortgage for Mark Fowles and Trustee from Miss Mary Ann Rooper serving £600 and Interest Page 1.



12th January1790  Mortgage for Mark Fowles and Trustee from Miss Mary Ann Rooper serving £600 and Interest Page 2.



12th January1790  Mortgage for Mark Fowles and Trustee from Miss Mary Ann Rooper serving £600 and Interest Page 3 



12th January1790  Mortgage for Mark Fowles and Trustee from Miss Mary Ann Rooper serving £600 and Interest Page 4 



22nd March 1792 Conveyance from George and Hewlett and Mark Fowles deceased and his mortgagee to George Colebrooke.



22nd March 1792 Conveyance from George and Hewlett and Mark Fowles deceased and his mortgagee to George Colebrooke.



22nd March 1792 Conveyance from George and Hewlett and Mark Fowles deceased and his mortgagee to George Colebrooke.



Sir George and Lady Colebrooke

East India House in Leadenhall Street in London.

Colebrooke was born in 1729 at Chilham, Kent, the third son of James Colebrooke, a London banker, and was educated at Leiden University. banker and speculator 

and slave-owner in Antigua and elsewhere in the Caribbean, Husband of Mary Gaynor, daughter and heir of Peter Gaynor (d. 1738); Sir George Colebrooke is shown 

as having inherited £200,000 from his father-in-law, but presumably the property in fact was Mary Gaynor's until her marriage. Their second son Sir James 

Edward Colebrooke (q.v.) succeeded his father in 1809 after the death of both Sir George Colebrooke and their eldest son that year. He was MP for Arundel 1754-

1774, and Chairman of the East India Co. His bank closed its doors in 1773 and he was bankrupted in 1777 after loses including £190,000 in speculation on hemp, 

but appears to have recovered some of his property before his death in 1809.

After the death of his father and an older brother, George was left in sole charge of the family bank in Threadneedle Street, and invested some of his wealth in 

buying up control of the borough of Arundel in Susse, where the family lived. Colebrooke kept control for twenty years, sitting himself as M.P. from 1754 to 1774 and 

for most of the period being able to choose also who held the other seat. Meanwhile, his brother, James had bought control of one seat in another rotten 

borough, Gatton in Surrey for £23,000, and was also sitting in Parliament.

Both brothers were at first Opposition Whigs,, but switched support to the Duke of Newcastle`s government and were rewarded in 1759 with the creation of a 

baronetcy for James (who had daughters but no son) and a special remainder of the baronetcy to George. When James died in 1761, George inherited both the 

baronetcy, Gatton Park and the Lordship of the Manor at Gatton with its guaranteed control of one of the parliamentary seats there. He had Gatton Park landscaped 

by Capability Brown between 1762 and 1768. More valuably, however, Colebrooke's support for Newcastle ensured his eligibility for lucrative government contracts. 

By 1762, he held two of these contracts, one for remitting money to the British forces in the American colonies and the other for victualling the troops there. But 

with Newcastle's fall from power in that year, Colebrooke was immediately ejected from one contract by the new government, and the other was not 



Sir George Colebrooke's Time at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1790 until 1809.  

Colebrooke Row  in Islington in London
developed by Sir George in 1768.

Colebrooke in Antigua

renewed when it expired in 1765. Though offered compensation or new contracts on the formation of the Rockingham government, he 
preferred instead to accept a well-paid post as Chirographer to the Court of Common Pleas.. From this point onwards although he retained his 
seat in Parliament he was rarely active there.
Colebrooke's business interests were diverse. He speculated in land, buying large estates in Lanarkshire, and purchased plantations in 
Antigua (where his wife already had interests),Grenada and Dominica and was a slave-owner, he was also a member of a syndicate to settle 
the Ohio Valley in in 1768, and had interests in New England.(Colebrook, New Hampshire is named in his honour.) Two interests in particular, 
however, led to his eventual downfall: his involvement in the East India Company and his speculations in raw materials.
Colebrooke was a Director of the East India Company from 1767 to 1771, Deputy Chairman 1768-69 and was elected Chairman three times, in 
1769, 1770 and 1772. His final year in office was a disastrous one: the company got into financial difficulties (which led to the passing of the 
Regulating Act of 1773), he was accused of speculating in its stock while Chairman, and was left heavily in debt to a number of the other 
leading figures in the company, partly through arrangements to procure votes in the company's elections. He lost much larger sums, however, 
speculating on prices of raw materials – hemp, flax, lead, logwood and alum among others. In 1771 he lost £190,000 dealing in hemp; from 
1772 he was attempting to corner the world's supply of alum, buying up mines in Yorkshire and Lancashire, and saw much of the remainder of 
his fortune swallowed up when the market collapsed as part of a wider financial crisis.
At first, Colebrooke was able to stay in business with assistance from the Bank of England, but his bank temporarily stopped payment on 31 
March 1773, and permanently (after three years in the control of trustees appointed by his creditors) on 7 August 1776. Yet at the same period 
he was spending considerable sums on the rebuilding of his London house in Soho Square. Most of his property, including his share in the 
rotten borough at Gatton, was sold to meet his liabilities, and a commission of bankruptcy was taken out against him in 1777.
He retired to Boulogne- sur-Mer, so poor that the East India Company had to vote him a pension, but later returned to England and managed 
eventually to pay his creditors in full so that some inheritance was left for his descendants. He died in Bath on 5 August 1809.
He had married Mary Gayner, daughter of Peter Gayner of Antigua, in 1754, and they had three sons and three daughters: Mary Colebrooke
(born 1757), George Colebrooke (1759–1809), James Edward Colebrooke(1761–1838), who succeeded to the baronetcy, Harriet Colebrooke
(1762–1785), Louisa Colebrooke (born 1764),Professor Henry Thomas Colebrooke (1765–1837)

‘Shah Allum in Distress’, Westminster Magazine 
(Jan. 1773)



Sir George and Lady Colebrooke

The Colebrookes were installed in their new home at 31 Marlborough 

Buildings in Bath by October 1791). Sir George quickly established 

himself as a member of the Bath artistic and literary elite, who included 

a number of former connections from his time in London, most notably, 

Mrs Hester Piozzi (formerly Mrs Thrale) of 8 Gay Street who, given 

their long-established friendship, would have ensured the Colebrookes’ 

entrée into Bath society. During his years in France, he was involved 

with a Masonic Lodge that is reported to have had an international 

membership Sir George’s presence in Bath’s society directed his actions 

beyond religious affairs to include chairing a number of leading civic 

bodies within the city. Sir George was involved with an association of 

residents who created a charitable organisation offering assistance to 

the poor. The organisation entitled ‘The Society for the Suppression of 

Vagrants, Relief of Occasional Distress’ began functioning in January 

1805.In January 1801, the newly created Bath Royal Literary and 

Scientific Institution had plans to establish a ‘Bath Publick Library of 

learned books not usually found in circulating libraries or private 

collections. The man nominated for the role of president of the 

proposed library was Sir George. Unfortunately, the plans never came 

to fruition due to the falling numbers of wealthy permanent and visiting 

residents in Bath who could make the venture viable. On 4th August 

1809, the man who it was said had the chance to be the richest man in 

the country died at the age of eighty. His obituary in the Bath Chronicle, 

and repeated in newspapers all over the country, chose to summarise 

his life by his actions that led to his financial ruin: ‘At Bath Easton, 30 

Bath Chronicle (3rd December 1807), Sir George Colebrooke, Bart, 

formerly a merchant and broker in London of the first eminence and 

most extensive dealings; but his commercial concerns were ruined by 

an avaricious speculation in alum.. Sir George was a fighter and a 

survivor, and this is clearly illustrated from the immediate aftermath of 

his bankruptcy. Sir George was interred in his family vault at St Mary’s 

parish church in Chilham in Kent along with his wife, parents, and 

those children who predeceased him. Sir James Colebrooke and his 

family are also interred within the vault. Robert Colebrooke was buried 

in France.      An extract from the “Shah of Alum” by Stuart Boydell

Sir George Colebrooke by  Sir Joshua Reynolds.

07 January 1790 - Bath Chronicle



Sir George and Lady Colebrook by Sir Joshua Reynolds

1789 Rates  Sir George 
Colebrook - Royal Crescent

1791 Rates – Sir George 
Colebrooke

1809 Rates  Lady Colebrook 
1817 Rates Lady Colebrook1807  Rates - Sir George 

Colebrooke

Lady Colebrooke by  Sir Joshua Reynolds.



Lady Mary Colebrooke who lived at 31 Marlborough Buildings between 1790 and 1818

An Extract from Lady Mary Colebrooke Will
The last Will and Testament of Dame Mary Colebrooke of Bath, Widow of 
Sir George Colebrooke, Bart. Deceased. I desire that my body may be 
deposited in the family Mausoleum at Chilham in Kent near the remains of 
my late beloved husband.
I give, devise and bequeath my freehold house situated in 
Marlborough Buildings in Bath and the coach house and stables near 
there and all other my freehold, copyhold and leasehold Estates whatsoever 
situate in Great Britain to sell and dispose them after my decease either in 
public auction or private contract be applied to my personal estate. I 
bequeathed all my negroes, slaves, cattle live or dead stock and all stores and 
personal estate at my Estate in the island of Antigua in the West Indies and 
all the Sugar and produce which shall arise from there to my children and 
grandchildren.

The 
Memorial to 
Sir George 
and Lady 

Colebrooke
and their 

families to be 
seen in the 
Church at 

Chilham in 
Kent.

Lady Mary  Colebrooke (1738-1818) 

There is a PDF of the comprehensive  article “The Shah of Allum: Sir 
George Colebrooke by  Stuart Boydel on the history of Bath website. 



Charles Daubeny who lent Sir George Colebrooke £800 in 1792 to complete his purchase of 31 Marlborough Buildings

Charles was the second son of George Daubeny, a Bristol merchant. He was baptized 16 August 1745, educated at a private school at Philip's 

Norton, and sent when 15 years old to Winchester College. Shortly after his admission he fell ill, was incapacitated for more than a year, and 

never entirely recovered. He became head boy of the school, and at age 18 gained an exhibition at New College, Oxford, where he later 

became a Fellow.

Coming of age, his father having died, he inherited a fortune, but the state of his health constrained him. In 1770 he went abroad to the German 

mineral springs and the following year visited St. Petersburg. On his return to England in 1772 he resided for some months at Oxford to prepare 

for holy orders, a necessary qualification to his admission to a fellowship at Winchester College. He was ordained deacon in 1773 by 

the Bishop of Oxford, and priest in the following week by Richard Terrick, bishop of London, and in the same year graduated B.C.L. He 

obtained his fellowship in 1774, but only held it for two years, when the college living of North  Bradley, Wiltshire, was offered him. This living 

was poor, and the parish neglected. He now married a Miss Barnston, and until his vicarage could be made habitable lived at Clifton. He set 

about restoring his church. In 1784 he was appointed to the prebend of Minor Pars Altaris in Salisbury Cathedral, and four years later published 

his first work, ‘Lectures on the Church Catechism. For the two following years Daubeny resided abroad and was at Versailles on the outbreak 

of the French Revolution. In 1790 his health was weak and he wintered in Bath, Somerset and while there interested himself in promoting the 

erection of a free church. His first sermon in aid of this object produced over £1,200. Christ Church, Bath was opened in 1798, and was the 

first free and open church in the country and he  became the first minister.

Christ Church stands today a short distance from Marlborough Buildings. He must have been a good friend of Sir George Colebrooke in 

assisting him in the purchase of his house by lending him the £900. Both Gentlemen at the time were residing in the Royal Crescent. It was 

only to be for a year as Sir George was to borrow a larger amount  from Arthur Jones, a woollen Draper and repay Daubeny. 



23rd March 1792 Mortgage from George Colebrooke to The Rev. Mr. Charles Daubeny Mortgage for £900 and Interests. 



23rd March 1792 Mortgage from George Colebrooke to The Rev. Mr. Charles Daubeny Mortgage for £900 and Interests. 



10th April 1793 from George Colebrooke to Mr. Arthur Jones transfer of  Mortgage of a house in Marlborough Buildings. 

ALL Persons who stood indebted to ARTHUR JONES, late 

of the city of Bath, in the county of Somerset, Woollen-

Draper, deceased, at the time of his death, and have not yet 

been paid the Amount of their respective debts are desired 

to pay the same immediately to his son, Mr. Thomas Jones 

of Bath, Aforesaid, Woollen Draper. 

15 December 1796 - Bath Chronicle



10th April 1793 from George Colebrooke to Mr. Arthur Jones transfer of  Mortgage of a house in Marlborough Buildings. 



10th April 1793 from George Colebrooke to Mr. Arthur Jones transfer of  Mortgage of a house in Marlborough Buildings. 



10th April 1793 from George Colebrooke to Mr. Arthur Jones transfer of  Mortgage of a house in Marlborough Buildings. 



11th June 1802 from George Colebrooke to Sir George Colebrooke Bart. Declaration of Trust at 31 Marlborough Buildings



Hastings Elwin (1776 – 1852) 

Although I had researched 31 Marlborough Buildings from every angle 

possible and built up a list of occupiers of the house, I was completely 

unaware of who the owners were. Fortunately, I was given the original 

Deeds from the previous owner. These were a revelation and an insight 

into its history. The most amazing documents were those relating to 

Hastings Elwin who was to own the property for nearly 10 years, without 

actually living there. During this time it was Samuel Lane who appeared 

with his family as living at the address and paying rent to Hastings Elwin. 

The first  large document that I have is in 1821 when Hastings pays £1775 

to Sir James and Henry Colebrooke, surviving sons and trustees of Sir 

George Colebrooke. There may well have been a link between the two 

families as both had fortunes originating in plantations in Antigua. Although 

Hastings owned the house, he only lived just a short distance away in St. 

James Square for in 1830 he sold it to Mrs Mary Jane Marlow, Widow of 

Michael Marlow, who had been Vice Chancellor of Oxford University for 

£1770. This coincided with his marriage  to Mary Anne Cole in 1829 and 

their  moving from Bath to the Isle of Wight and eventually New South 

Wales in Australia where he was a member of Legislative Council from 

1843 to 1844, during which time he was also Chairman of Committees. 

Elwin died at Camperdown in 1852.

His main claim to fame is the establishment of the Bath Royal Literary and 

Scientific Institution in 1825 which is still to be found today in Queens 

Square. There is marvelous article published by them “The Life and Times 

of Hastings Elwin Or Elwyn (1777-1852) and His Critical Role in Founding 

the Bath Literary and Scientific Institution in 1823.” (geocurator_8_4.pdf)

https://www.geocurator.org/images/resources/geocurator/vol8/geocurator_8_4.pdf


Hastings Elwin (1776 – 1852) 

He moved to Bath in 1815 where he joined the “Bath and West of England Agricultural Society ”. He continues to appear 

on the list for 1820, when he is listed as a Vice President and his last entry is in that for 1832. In 1820 he published a 

pamphlet for the creation of a Literary and Scientific Institution for the city of Bath. It coincided with the destruction in

December of that year of the former Lower Assembly Rooms. He with others were to use the site for a new Library and 

museum to be operated by the Society. This opened in 1825 with an inaugural lecture and dinner. 

Hastings Elwins important part in establishing the museum resulted in the Institution paying for a statue of him, which 

can still be seen today. It reads as follows: “ The subscribers, deeply sensitive of their obligations to Mr. HASTINGS 

ELWIN, whose sound judgement, ardent zeal, and unremitting exertions, have been so conspicuously displayed in 

establishing this Institution, are anxious to evince their gratitude for his eminent services by a suitable”.

It is quite exiting to think that this chapter of his fulfilling life should be spent during the time that he owned 31 

Marlborough Buildings. 

A bust of Hastings Elwin to be 

seen at The Bath Royal Literary 

and Scientific Institution today.

The pamphlet that Hastings Elwin 

published promoting an Institution 

in 1820

The Bath Royal Literary and 

Scientific Institution today.

Bath Royal Literary and 

Scientific Institution in 1828



27th September 1821 from James Edward and Henry Thomas Colebrooke and Hastings Elwin Deed of Covenants.



27th September 1821 from James Edward and Henry Thomas Colebrooke and Hastings Elwin Deed of Covenants.



27th September 1821 from Richard Jones Esq. to Hastings Elwin Esq. Release of Freehold and assignment of Lease.



27th September 1821 from Richard Jones Esq. to Hastings Elwin Esq. Release of Freehold and assignment of Lease.



27th September 1821 from Richard Jones Esq. to Hastings Elwin Esq. Release of Freehold and assignment of Lease.



Samuel Lane – Collector of Taxes at Kings Lynn  - whose family were to rent 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1817 until 1867 

Samuel Lane first appears in the Rates List for Marlborough Buildings in 1817 with the owner, Lady Colebrooke, the 
widow of Sir George. Her Will issued the following year shows her wishing to sell her freehold house and it is Samuel who 
is to buy it from the Estate. He would have been sixty nine years of age at the time and his wife,Elizabeth, sixty five. This 
was obviously to be their retirement home after a life mainly spent in Kings Lynn in Norfolk. He had been Collector of 
Takes for the town and had obviously done well in this position. He and his family held important positions there and 
were well regarded. His son, Frederick was Town Clerk and son in law, William Swatman it’s Mayor. His office would 
have been in the fine Customs House which still stands in the harbour. There is still much to find out about this 
gentleman and it is interesting that amongst the properties he owned was Hunstanton Lighthouse which he leased to the 
Crown. Whilst living in Bath he was to lose his third daughter, Isabella who was just seven years of age when she died in 
Bath in 1826. Elizabeth, his wife was to leave him a widower in 1832 and he himself passed away in 1835. By a strange 
coincidence, his daughter, Anna who had married Lieutenant Colonel George Bourne in Bath in 1825, was to later 
purchase the house in 1848 as a widow.

Tuesday Market Place Kings Lynn.



Samuel Lane – Collector of Taxes at Kings Lynn  - whose family were to be at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1817 until 1867 

Licence granted by the Commissioners of His 
Majesty's Woods to Samuel Lane of Bath in 
consideration of his granting Hunstanton 
Lighthouse to the Crown, of right to collect 
part of the lighthouse tolls for terms of 11¾ 
years from 1837. The Lighthouse at 
Hunstanton is the property of Frederick Lane 
Esq, whose father the late Samuel Lane Esq. 
was many years the Collector of Customs 
here. 

1817 Rates List for 
Marlborough Buildings 

On Sunday last, in Marlborough Buildings, 
Bath, deeply lamented by her family and 
friends, Isabella, third daughter of Samuel 
Lane, Esq. late of King’s Lynn. 2 December 
1826 - Norwich Mercury

1779 Marriage of Samuel Lane to Elizabeth Mayhew

1825 Marriage of 
Anna Lane to George 
Bourne in the 
presence of Samuel 
and Isabella Lane.

The historic 
Customs House in 
Kings Lynn where 
Samuel Lane would 
have worked.

1827 Rates List for 
Marlborough Buildings 



Samuel Lane – Collector of Taxes at Kings Lynn  - whose family were to be at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1817 until 1867 

An abstract from the Will of Samuel Lane 
I Samuel Lane late of the City of Bath and now of Kings Lynn in the 
County of Norfolk Esquire do release this to be my last Will and 
already made a disposition of the principal part of my property 
between my children in sure manner as is satisfactory to them. I 
hereby dispose of the residue as follows: I give the sun of six hundred 
pounds unto my son for the children of my late daughter Elizabeth, 
the wife of William Swatman. I give the following legacies to my 
eldest son, Samuel the sun of five hundred pounds. … to devise 
between my two daughters, Anna the wife of Lieutenant Colonel 
George Bourne and Harriett the wife of the Rev. John Hammond and 
my two sons William and Frederick  1832, proved 1835

21st August 1847

Frederick Lane (1788-1846), 
Samuel`s son  was Town Clerk of 
King's Lynn from 1832; he 
married Miss Everard of King's 
Lynn in 1815. 

Kings Lynn 9th October 1833

The identity of the sitter is given in a recent chalk inscription on the reverse. Frederick Lane 
(1788-1846), the artist's brother, was Town Clerk of King's Lynn from 1832; he married Miss 
Everard of King's Lynn in 1815. Another portrait of Frederick Lane by Samuel Lane was 
exhibited at 'Samuel Lane', King's Lynn, 1959. Samuel Lane exhibited a portrait of 'Mr F Lane, 
RA' 1806, when his brother was sixteen, but he appears older in DPG648.



William Swatman Elizabeth Lane Samuel Lane Frederick Lane

Samuel Lane Junior was the son of Samuel and Elizabeth Lane, he was born at Kings Lynn on 
26 July 1780. After a childhood accident he became deaf and partially dumb. He studied 
under Joseph Farrington and then under Sir Thomas Lawrence who employed him as assistant.
Lane first exhibited at the Royal Academy in 1804, secured a large practice, and was a constant 
contributor for more than fifty years, sending in all 217 works. He lived in London at 60 Greek 
Street, Soho until 1853, and then retired to Ipswich; he sent his last contribution to the 
Academy in 1857. He died at Ipswich on 29 July 1859.  Amongst his many paintings is this one 
of Horatio Nelson painted in 1808

The Frederick Lane Tragedy 3rd October 1846 

Samuel Lane – Collector of Taxes at Kings Lynn  - whose family were to be at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1817 until 1867 



27th September 1830 from Hastings Elwin Esq. to Mrs. Mary Marlow appointment and release of 31 Marlborough Buildings. 



27th September 1830 from Hastings Elwin Esq. to Mrs. Mary Marlow appointment and release of 31 Marlborough Buildings. 



Michael Marlow (1757 - 1828) was an academic administrator at the University of Oxford and an Anglican Priest.
Michael Marlow was the only son of Rev. Michael Marlow and his wife Sarah. He was educated at Merchant Taylor`s School, from where he gained 
a scholarship to St, John`s College Oxford.
Marlow subsequently became a Fellow of St John's College. In 1795, after gaining his Doctor of Divinity, he was elected President of the 
College. While President at St John's College, Marlow was later Vice Chancellor of Oxford University from 1798 until 1802. Marlow was also Rector 
at the village of Hanborough in Oxfordshire near Oxford. He was Canon of Canterbury from 1808 until his death in 1828. He  married  Mary Jane 
Clare in 1798. She was the daughter of Rev. Thomas Clare, D.D. of Rugby, Warwickshire. They did not have any children. After his death his wife 
lived at 20 Park Street in Bath in 1830 before moving to 31 Marlborough Buildings in 1837.

Michael Marlow`s Will leaving his Estate to his wife, Mary Jane. 
They were residing at St. John` College at the time of his death.

December 13th 1796. The marriage of Michael Marlow, 
President of St. Johns College, Oxford to Mary Jane Clare

Mrs Mary Jane Marlow lived at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1837 until 1848



Mary Jane Marlow (1781– 1848) moves to 20 Park Street in Bath by 1830 and then buys 31 Marlborough Buildings 

City Rates for Marlborough Buildings in 1837 
show Mary Jane Marlow living at no. 31 

City Rates for Marlborough Buildings in 1847 
show Mary Jane Marlow living at no. 31 

The 1841 Census  shows Mary 

Marlow, aged 60 of 

Independent Means living 

with John Kench , aged 40 (a 

Man Servant), Elizabeth 

Fisher, aged 50 ( a Foot 

Servant) and Sarah Kench, 

aged 30 (a Foot Servant) at 31 

Marlborough Buildings. 

Auction of  31 Marlborough Buildings and its contents on the death
of Mary Jane Marlow in 1848



March 1848 Conditions of Sale of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings 



March 1848 Conditions of Sale of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings for £1050  



Anna Bourne, daughter of Samuel Lane.

Marlborough Buildings by John Holloway.

Anna was born in 1786 to Samuel and Elizabeth Lane. Her father was a Tax Collector in the port of Kings Lynn in Norfolk. She was one of six 
children that they bought up. After a successful career her father retired to Bath and in 1817 was living at 32 Marlborough Buildings with his 
wife and daughters. It was whilst there that her sister, Isabella died, aged just 37. It was whilst there in 1825 she met and married Lieutenant 
Colonel George Bourne, who was residing at the Circus in Bath at the time. Sadly, he was to die in 1835, the same year as her father, Samuel 
who had by then returned back to Kings Lynn. On the death of Jane Marlow in 1848, her house and contents are auctioned soon after. By a 
strange coincidence, Anna now a widow aged 62 purchases 31 Marlborough Buildings, which must have bought make happier memories of her 
earlier times there with her family. She was to spend the next twenty years there with her young servants. She died in 1869, aged 82 childless 
and her Estate passed to her nephew Frederick William Littlestone Lane and her sister, Harriett Hammond who was living with her at the 
time. She was buried in an impressive tomb in the graveyard of Priston Church, near Bath where her sister, Harriett was the wife of the Rev. 
John Hammond. Her sister was to live on until 1792, aged 89 and is buried along side her.



On Thursday last, Walcot Church, Bath, 
Lieut.-Col. Bourne, to Anna, second 
daughter of Samuel Lane, Esq. 
Marlborough bulldings, Bath. 13 
August 1825 - Berkshire Chronicle 

Cause number: 1863 S58.
Short title: Swatman v Lane.
Documents: Bill, interrogatories, one answer.
Plaintiffs: Edward Lane Swatman.
Defendants: Dorothy Lane, Revd Robert Winter 
Kinnion, Anna Bourne widow, Harriet Hammond 
widow, Edward Everard and Elizabeth Lane widow.

Feb. 14, his residence in the 
Circus, Bath Lieut.-Col, George Bourne, 
of the East Kent Militia, and formerly of his 
Majesty’s regular forces. 
24 February 1835 - Kentish Weekly Post

The Certificate for the marriage of Anna 
Lane to Lieutenant Colonel George 

Bourne of the East Kent Militia in 1825. 

Marble Memorial in Bath Abbey to Lieutenant 
Colonel George Bourne , husband of Anna 
where he was buried.

George Bourne`s Commission to Lieutenant in 
the East Kent Militia Colonel in 1822 

1851 Census Anna Bourne (60)

Anna Bourne, daughter of Samuel Lane.



Anna Bourne, daughter of Samuel Lane.

Feb.10, 1869  at 31 Marlborough Buildings, 
Bath Anna, relict of Colonel Bourne,

Anna Bourne and her sister`s Tomb at 
Priston Church, near Bath.



March 1848.The Rev. George Clare to Mrs. Anna Bourne Grant of a messuage being no. 31 Marlborough Buildings in Bath



March 1848.The Rev. George Clare to Mrs. Anna Bourne Grant of a messuage being no. 31 Marlborough Buildings in Bath



1871 Census Henry Holland Burne (41) Solicitor, Elizabeth Burne (41) , 
Sarah Webb (31) Cook, Ellen Hitchman (26) Parlour Maid. 

In 1864 Henry Holland Burne was living at Richmond Lodge, Richmond Hill

1881 Census Henry Holland Burne (51) Solicitor, Elizabeth Burne (51) , James 
Pullen (37)Butler, Sarah Welchman (35) Ladys Maid,Lydia Hunstall(35) Cook, 
Hannah Keats (56) Housemaid, Elizabeth Scape (19) Kitchenmaid

1891 Census Henry Holland Burne, aged 61, is now a Widow and has moved to no. 
27/28 Marlborough Buildings in Bath. 

Henry Holland Burne (1830 – 1911)  A wealthy Solicitor living at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1869 until 1884

Henry Holland Burne



Mr. Henry Holland Burne, who died at 28 Marlborough Buildings on Saturday night, was one of the oldest residents of Bath, and for along while 

practised as a solicitor in the city where he was known as an extremely Clever lawyer. He had reached the good old age of 81. Mr. Burne was deeply 

attached to his nature city, for he was the son of Mr. John Burne, M.D., who was a leading physician in Bath for considerable period, living at 38, 

Brock Street Mr. Burne qualified as a solicitor early in life and after spending some rears in London, returned to Bath as partner in the firm of 

Dowding Bros, and Burne, whose offices were at 14,The Vineyards. Then the  firm migrated to 37. Gay Street where its business has been 37.Gay 

Street. where its business has been transacted until the present dav the professional successors of the original firm being Messrs. Macdonald and 

Longrigg Messrs. and E. Dowding passing away Mr. Burne conducted the business alone for some time and then he was joined Br E Rooke. At 

Christmas, 1885, Mr. Burne retired.He was a member of the Incorporated Law Society and President of the branch for many years. He became a 

Trustee of the Blue Coat School in 1860 and in 1898 it’s Treasurer. Mr. Burne became a Governor of the Royal Mineral Water Hospital in 1878. 

When the Volunteer corps was inaugurated in 1859 Mr. Burne was an enthusiastic supporter of the patriotic movement and was given the 

commission as Captain of one of the original Bath Companies of Somerset Rifles. He was one of the original members of the Bath and County Club 

and his death leaves Mr. Henry Tugwell as the only survivor of those who founded the institution. He was a director of the London and Provincial 

Insurance Society. Comparatively late in life Mr. Burne followed the hounds a good deal and was a member of the Duke of Beaufort’s Hunt. The 

deceased was a staunch Conservative and a generous subscriber to the party funds in Bath. It should be mentioned that he was a Trustee of Beckers

Charity, one of the oldest of Baths charitable organisations. At one time he belonged to the committee of the Royal Victoria Park and strongly 

advocated the making of a new entrance into Park Lane, but his colleagues failed to see eye to eye with him over the proposal, and Mr. Burne

resigned from the Committee. For several years Mr. Burne had a London residence in Buckingham Gate and used to spend a good deal of time in 

town. His wife died about 20 years ago. She was the daughter of the late General Sir Richard England. KCB, and married Mr. Burne as her second 

husband. Mr. Hawkins having been her first. There was no children of the Marriage. Mr. Burne leaves an elder brother, the Rev. J.B. Burne, Recyor

if Aldermaston, in Berkshire, and a sister, Mrs Margaretta Burne, who married her cousin, and whose son wedded the daughter of the Rev. J.B. 

Burne. The deceased owned considerable house properties and he was one of the wealthiest residents of Bath leaving an estate of £215,000

1. Thomas Washbourne Gibbs of Bath, 
gent. and Thomas Washbourne Gibbs 
the younger of Bath, gent. 2. Henry 
Holland Burne of Bath, Esquire.
Conveyance from 1 to 2 subject to rent 
of No.28 Marlborough Buildings. 
Consideration: £1200.
Rent: £9:18. 1884

Henry Holland Burne, A wealthy Solicitor living at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1869 until 1884



The Three Storey Porch added to 27/28 Marlborough Buildings by Browne and Gill for Henry Holland Burne in 1884.



The Three Storey Porch added to 27/28 Marlborough Buildings by Browne and Gill for Henry Holland Burne in 1884.

First Floor Plan

Second Floor Plan Garrett Plan

First Floor Plan
Ground Floor Plan



24th June 1869 Mrs Harriett Hammond and F.W. Lane Esq. to H. Holland Burne Esq. Conveyance of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings.



24th June 1869 Mrs Harriett Hammond and F.W. Lane Esq. to H. Holland Burne Esq. Conveyance of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings.



18th May 1869 Replies to Requisition of Title 



Mrs Catherine Charlewood and Mrs Catherine Caldecot lived at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1891 until 1908

Will of Mrs Mary Cockell 
leaving her sister, Catherine 
Charlewood a fortune. 
12 May 1892 - Bath Chronicle

1901 Census for 31 Marlborough Buildings has Catherine Charlewood, A Widow, aged 84 living off own means born in Boldre in Hampshire. 
Catherine Caldecot, Daughter, A Widow, aged 52, living off own means. Emily Cox, aged 45 a Cook, Bertha Clelford, aged 48, Maid, Mary 
Moon, aged 45, Housemaid. Lucy Gray, aged 28, Parlour maid.

Catherine Monkland was born in 1817 in the village of Box in Wiltshire. In 1846 she married John Charlewood at St. Swithins Church in Walcot in 
Bath. He was a Major in the Army. In 1881 they were living at The Elms in Alveston in Glos. Their daughter, Catherine had been born in Boldre in 
Hampshire in 1848 and in 1874 she married Frederick James Phillip Caldecot in the village of Alveston. John Charlewood died in 1890 and both the 
mother and daughter moved to  12 Queens Square and then 31 Marlborough Buildings the following year from Alveston where they were living. 
When Catharine Charlewood died in 1904 she was buried next to her late husband and their grave stone can be seen today. Her daughter briefly 
continued to live at no. 31, but later moved to 9St. James’s Square where she died in 1908, aged 59.

In 1846 she married John 
Charlewood at St. Swithins
Church in Walcot in Bath. 

The Gravestone at 
Alveston where 
Catherine and her 
husband were laid 
to rest.

John Charlewood`s Will

The Marriage of Catherine to Fredferick Caldecot in 1874

The Marriage of Catherine to John Charlewood in 1846



Colonel Charles Webster lived at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1908 until 1918

1911 Census for 31 Marlborough Buildings
Charles Henry Webster, aged 73, Retired 
Colonel born in Wallasey.
Mary Beatrice Webster, aged 47, wife, 
with one child.
Ernest William Edwards, aged 37, Butler.
Alice Bird, aged 29, Servant
Bessie Broke, aged 23, Servant.
Kate Hanks, aged 17, Servant.

1910 Directory for 

Marlborough Buildings.

1911 Postcard of 
Marlborough Buildings

31



17th June 1931 Trustees of the Will of Mr. H.W. Burne deceased to Miss May Butterworth  sale of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings for £750 



16th June 1931 Searches for the sale of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings 



1921 Census for 31 Marlborough Buildings
Emily Sophia Grafton aged 90 Widowed 
born in London
Lilian Evelyn Grafton aged 59 Single born 
in Manchester
Elsie Stuart aged 60 cook

Amy Congdon aged 54 Maid
Winifred Parfitt aged 24 house maid
Sarah Sherring aged 28 parlour maid
Florence Goulding aged 18 kitchen maid

Emily and Lilian Grafton lived at 31 Marlborough Buildings from 1919 until 1935



Frederick William Grafton (1816 - 27 January 1890) was a British industrialist and Liberal politician.
He was the eldest son of Joseph Smith Grafton, a Manchester merchant. Following a private education he obtained employment at 
a calico printing works. He subsequently established his own calico printing business, F.W. Grafton and Company, with premises in at Broad Oak 
Works, |Accrington and Manchester. He was a major employer in the area and was selected as a parliamentary candidate by the Liberal Party at 
the 1880 General Election. He was felt to represent the "commercial class" and was elected to represent North East Lancashire along with Lord 
Hartington.
When the North East Lancashire seat was split into four divisions by the Redistribution of Sales Act 1885, Grafton was chosen to contest the new 
Accrington constituency. Although elected as a Liberal, he voted against the government’s First Home Rule Bill and joined the Unionist 
Party. The rejection of the bill led to the dissolution of parliament, and Grafton announced that he would not be standing due to ill health.
Grafton lived at Heysham Hall, Lancaster and Hope Hall, Manchester.He married Emily Sophia Howard in 1850. Frederick Grafton died at his 
London residence, 7 Kensington Palace Gardens in January 1890, aged 74.

Emily and Lilian Grafton lived at 31 Marlborough Buildings from1919 until 1935

Broad Oak Works,Accrington.

Frederick William Grafton

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Liberal_Party_(UK)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Calico_(textile)


April 1931 the sale of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings  by Hernry Holland Burne`s Trustees to May Butterworth for £750 



28th November 1936 - the sale of no. 31 Marlborough Buildings  by May Butterworth to John Charles Richardson for £500 



Possesion of 49 Wells Road. Bath, 
the occupier being named Fisher, 
and. £6 15s. arrears of rent and Ios. 
mesne profit were claimed 
by Joseph Matthews, 79, Wells 
Road. at Bath County Court on 
Thursday  Judge Kirkhouse
Jenkins made an order for 
possession on July 15th.
08 July 1939 - Bath Chronicle

RENT ARREAR Possession Order 
Granted at Bath Joseph 
Matthews, 79, Well* Road, 
Bath, applied Bath magistrates 
Tuesday for possession of 3, 
Green Down Place Combe Down, 
the occupation of a tenant named 
Shepherd, who did not appear. , 
Applicant said wanted
13 July 1935 - Bath Chronicle

previously been considered by 
Judge Kirkhouse Jenkins, 
K.C., at Bath County Court, 
was again in his list on 
Thursday. Joseph 
Matthews, 79, Wells Road, 
Bath, claimed possession of 
the top floor at 3, Vane Street, 
in the occupation of James 
Kelly, salesman
09 December 1939 - Bath 
Chronicle

79 Wells Road today

Joseph Matthews owner of  31 Marlborough Buildings from 1946 until 1959

1946



Joseph Matthews purchase of 31 Marlborough Buildings from John Richardson in 1937 for £650. 



1939 Census for 31 Marlborough Buildings
Berry John G. Aged 26 Builders General 
Foreman’s Assistant
Berry Alice E. aged 29 house wife
Collins Doris, aged 27 Mattress Maker
Pillinger Rita, aged 58,widow house wife
Pillinger Rita, aged 30 shoe shop assistant
Wright Frederick, aged 31 cow man and retail milk 
round
Wright Mabel, aged 28 house wife
Norman Ernest aged 51, kitchen Porter
Norman Anne aged 33 companion

1950 Directory for 
Marlborough Buildings

1947 Directory for 
Marlborough Buildings

1940 Directory for 
Marlborough Buildings

31 Marlborough Buildings in the 1940s



Documents relating to Mr. J. Mathews sale to  Domenico Toto and Giuseppe Cicirello from 1959 

Sale of interest of 31 Marlborough 
Buildings by Domenico Toto to 
Giuseppe Cicirello for £385 in 1961



Giuseppe and Angela  Cicirello owners  of  31 Marlborough Buildings from 1957 until 1981 (?)

When Giuseppe Cicirello was born on 8 May 1909 in Corleone, Palermo, Italy, his father, 
Giovanni, was 33 and his mother, Ninfa, was 28. 
He had one son with Angela Toto. Born 30 December 1914 Campobello Di Mazara, Sicily.
His mother Ninfa passed away on 25 September 1918 in Corleone, Palermo, Italy, at the age of 
38. 
His father Giovanni passed away on 17 February 1956 in Corleone, Palermo, Italy, at the age of 
80. 
Giuseppe Cicirello died on 18 April 1981 in Bath, Somerset, when he was 71 years old. 
Italy. Died 22nd May  2007 in Bath.19 Mario John Cicirello born 1951 married Jeanette F. 
Bishop in 1973 
Minfa Cicirello married Giuespe Cannella in 1964
Tony Joseph Cicirello born in 1977, mother Bishop
Angela Cicirello living at 4 Newbridge Road Bath in 2002 - 3  
Giovanni Cicirello living at 4 Newbridge Road in 2011
Jeanette Frances Cicirello aged 65+ in 1998– 2018  living at 31 Marlborough Road, Bath.
Helen Angela Cicirello, born in 1974,married Mark Hodson in 1996, mother maiden name 
Bishop 
14–2007

1973 Directory for 
Marlborough Buildings

1955 Directory for 
Marlborough Buildings

1965 Directory

1962 drawings for rear of 
31 Marlborough 

Buildings



1982

Mario and Jeanette Cicirello owners  of  31 Marlborough Buildings from 1981 to 2022

1982



2022

Mario and Jeanette Cicirello owners  of  31 Marlborough Buildings from 1981 to2022

Rear of House in 2022



31 Marlborough Buildings in 2022 Daria, Paul, Catherine and Claudia Mattingly  in 2022

Paul and Daria Mattingly - owners  of  31 Marlborough Buildings from 2022 to date
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